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WOODSTOCK STREET SHOPPING CENTER
(Lee Heights Shopping Center)

HABS No. VA-1426
4500-4550 Lee Highway, Arlington, Arlington County, Virginia.

Built to serve the Waverly Hills neighborhood, the Woodstock Street Shopping
Center was part of the development scheme that paired apartment complexes with
low-scale commercial centers in the second quarter of the twentieth century. The
garden apartment concept oriented the apartment buildings inward, toward a
courtyard, effectively eliminating street frontage. The hope was to offer pleasant
views and to bring light into each unit. The garden apartment was one design
solution for permanent, cost-efficient, and affordable housing that was built from
the mid-1930s to the mid 1950s. In this time period, Arlington saw 176 apartment
buildings and complexes go up in the county; the first was Colonial Village (b.
1935) and many, including those near the Woodstock Street Shopping Center,
were underway by the early 1940s.

This low-scale shopping center was built in several stages. It was constructed of
load-bearing masonry and covered by a flat roof. The storefronts are characterized
by fixed plate glass windows, enamel tiles, short brick bulkheads, and canvas
canopy awnings. There is street-front parking and a large parking lot to the rear of
the building.

During the 1930s a steady influx of people moved to Washington, D.C., and
environs as part of the burgeoning federal government, working in New Deal
programs and later in defense related industries in preparation for war. Arlington
County was no exception. In this decade some 40 % of Arlingtonians would be
employed in public service; many were commuters. As a result, residential and
commercial construction projects abounded, especially in the suburbs and
included a myriad of apartment complexes and what would become the
neighborhood shopping center. The shopping center could be an independent
venture, located near a residential community, or be part of the planned
development. Such duality of purpose was encouraged by the Federal Housing
Administration, the agency insuring many of the apartment buildings and
complexes. Unlike a downtown Main Street, the neighborhood shopping centers
clustered between seven to twenty tenants in one structure and offered off-street
parking. !

! See Richard Longstreth, “The Neighborhood Shopping Center in Washington, D.C., 1930-41,” Journal of the
Society for Avchitectural Historians 51 (March 1992): 5-34; Laura Trieschmann and Carrie Albee, “Glebe Center,”
Nomination July 2003, National Register of Historic Places, National Park Service, who cite Carl B. Rose, Jr.,
Arlington County Virginia: A History (Baltimore: Port City Press, Inc., 1976), 247-48.
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Automobile culture defined the design for the shopping centers, assuring the
presence of a parking forecourt that occupied a significant portion of the lot with
one or more rows of diagonal spaces. The low-scale shopping centers were
generally one story in height. The individual retail stores were contiguous to one
another, each fronting on the parking lot. All of the stores had an entrance
accessed directly from the lot. :

Following Arthur B. Heaton’s (1930) Park and Shop on Connecticut Avenue
were another twenty-five or so neighborhood shopping centers erected throughout
the D.C. suburbs up until the United States’ entry into the Second World War in
1941. The innovative Park and Shop served as the model for these shopping
centers, both in D.C. and throughout the country as a whole, as the type emerged
during the 1930s. At least eleven neighborhood shopping centers of this genre
were constructed in Arlington County before the war. In fact, by 1941,
neighborhood shopping centers appeared on almost every major thoroughfare in
the county. There were four on North Glebe Road, three on Columbia Pike, and
two on Wilson Boulevard.’

Beginning in 1945-46, and expanded several times until 1962, the Woodstock
Street Shopping Center (now Lee Heights) was constructed by Roystone, Grimm
and Sammons for Warwick Montgomery (Corotoman Properties, Inc.).4 The
shopping center is located on the Lee Highway commercial corridor, north of
Clarendon and Columbia Pike, and nearby several apartment complexes. The
shopping center underwent various repairs, interior build-outs for tenants,
additions of sprinkler systems and telephone booths, and so on over the years.

Sources:

Longstreth, Richard. “The Neighborhood Shopping Center in Washington, D.C., 1930-41.”
Journal of the Society for Architectural Historians 51 (March 1992): 5-34.

Rose, Carl B., Jr. Arlington County Virginia: A History. Baltimore: Port City Press, Inc., 1976.
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? Sara Amy Leach, “Mihran Mesrobian’s Suburban Virginia Garden Apartments and Shopping Centers,” Paper
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* Records of the Arlington County Building Department, Building Permits, Virginia Room, Arlington County Public
Library {(microfilm)/ “House Numbers and Street Names™ Cards, on file, Arlington County Historic Preservation
Division. The permit (#18922) for Nos. 4506-08 was dated February 1946; the permit (#18807) for Nos. 4510-12/22
was dated November 1945. Stores at Nos. 4524-32 were added in 1953 (permit #29247 for brick stores). The earliest
permit (#13614) associated with the site is dated July 1941; it was filed by Warwick Montgomery for a brick, block,
and himestone store at 4524, with another permit (#14750) for a remodel {actually the addition of a flood light) in
January 1942



